Міністерство освіти і науки України Київський національний лінгвістичний університет Кафедра германської і фіно-угорської філології

КУРСОВА РОБОТА

з лінгвістики

на тему: Засоби вираження майбутності в сучасній англійській мові

Студентки 4 курсу групи МЛа 05-20 Факультету германської філології і перекладу Напряму підготовки 035 "Філологія" Спеціальності Германські мови та літератури (переклад включно), перша — англійська Ковальової Алевтини Іванівни Керівник Березенко В.М., кандидат філологічних наук, доцент

	Національна шкала Кількість балів:	_Оцінка: ЄКТС
Члени комісії	(підпис)	(прізвище та ініціали)
	(підпис)	(прізвище та ініціали)
	(підпис)	(прізвище та ініціали)

Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine Kyiv National Linguistic University Department of Germanic and Finno-Ugric Philology

COURSE PAPER

Means of expressing futurity in the Modern English Language

ALEVTYNA KOVALOVA

Group MLa 05-20

Germanic Philology and Translation Faculty

Research Adviser

Assoc. Prof. VICTORIIA BEREZENKO

PhD (Linguistics)

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	•••••	4
CHAPTER I. THEORETICAL BASIS FOR THE STUDY OF THE	E FUT	URITY
AND THE LINGUISTIC MEANS OF ITS EXPRESSION	· • • • • • • •	8
1.1. Discursive features of a sentence		8
1.2. Deictic markers indicating the situation of objective reality	• • • • • • • • •	9
1.3. Time as an objective and a linguistic category		10
1.4. Futurity as a type of time deixis in a sentence	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	11
1.5. Linguistic means of denoting the futurity	• • • • • • • • • •	11
Conclusions to Chapter I	•••••	13
CHAPTER II. MEANS OF EXPRESSING FUTURITY IN ENGI	LISH,	THEIR
CHARACTERISTICS	•••••	15
2.1. Verbs and their role in modifying the futurity in English,	their	formal
differences		15
2.1.1. Tense forms to indicate futurity		15
2.1.2. Sequence of tenses when conveying future actions from the	perspe	ctive of
the past	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	16
2.1.3. The Subjunctive mood in expressing	a	future
action		18
2.2. Modal elements in denoting the futurity in English		19
2.2.1. Modal words and expressions and their significance in denoti	ng the	futurity
in English		19
2.2.2. Modal verbs for expressing the future	•••••	20
2.3. Adverbs of time and their use to represent future actions in English	•••••	21
Conclusions to Chapter II	• • • • • • • •	22
GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	•••••	24
RÉSUMÉ	•••••	27
LITERATURE CITED	•••••	28
LIST OF ILLUSTRATION MATERIALS	•••••	32

INTRODUCTION

The course paper is dedicated to considering and analysing means of expressing futurity in the Modern English Language. For the purpose of understanding the current nature of the language aspect, we will elaborate on the theoretical foundations of expressing the future and the linguistic means used to convey this tense. The exploration of this issue is carried out within the framework of linguistics and linguistic dynamics studies, where new approaches to the analysis of the ways of presenting futurity in language are noted.

The present state of the English language demonstrates the constant change of linguistic structures and functions, including those that are used to express the future action. Despite a number of scholarly works on this topic, we note that some points remain unrevealed, and this paper attempts to clarify them and expand the scope of the understanding. As it stands now, the choice of a particular utterance in relation to a certain future situation should not be based on an arbitrary set of rules, but on knowledge of certain shades of meaning and intentions that are embodied in certain constructions, structures and markers used by the speaker. The implementation of this research is **relevant**, since it contributes to a better understanding of linguistic evolution and the use of modern ways of communicating futurity in the given language from a lexical and grammatical perspectives, alongside with their pragmatic significance in real communicative situations.

Language always reflects the specifics of time perception and the transmission of information about some events, which makes it an essential part of the study – identification of the parameters that influence the choice of specific ways of expressing the future tense. Modality, verb mood, tense modifiers, as well as context and communicative situation play a crucial role in the choice of linguistic means.

The object of research is the category of the futurity and various linguistic mechanisms used to convey it in English.

The subject of research is the specific ways and forms through which the Modern English Language expresses futurity.

The primary goal of this paper is to explore and analyse how the notion of futurity is implemented in Modern English through particular means, and their functions in use.

The stated above goal implies the accomplishment of the following research tasks:

- to study the works of various scholars on the selected topic;
- to provide a theoretical foundation for the study of the futurity;
- to clarify the phenomenon of time as an objective category and tense as a lingual category, a deictic marker and a sentence constituent;
- to delve into a detailed investigation of linguistic elements and their functions related to futurity;
- to explore different linguistic components that play a role in expressing futurity;
- to show the differences and similarities between certain means of presenting futurity in modern English;
- to describe the ways of expressing the future in modern English;
- to give examples from the contemporary fiction where the ways of indicating the future tense are used.

Correspondingly, the following theoretical and practical research **methods** were used to fulfil the tasks outlined above:

- descriptive method, which makes it possible to characterise and evaluate linguistic factors;
- > method of induction, which is based on drawing specific research conclusions from general data;
- > method of deduction, which refers to a general theoretical approach to confirm the hypothesis based on the data obtained;
- ➤ functional method, which involves the study of language in action, in the process of working, given the purposeful nature of language units and phenomena in a particular discourse or speech context;

- ➤ method of distributional analysis, which examines language on the basis of the environment (distribution) of units in the text;
- ➤ method of pragmatic analysis, which involves processing the human dimensions of communication and how they interact with linguistic structures;
- theoretical analysis of the reference literature on the chosen topic.

The **novelty** of our research revolves around a detailed examination of innovative practices and new tendencies in investigating the ways of showing the future in the context of contemporary language and linguistic means. The approach to this study is also based on paying attention to the practical aspects of using different tense forms, constructions and expressions, including their semantics and usage in everyday speech.

The theoretical value of the research is that its results can be used in concomitant investigation of time parameter as well as in further studies on the use of language to express future events and concepts. Both perspectives can lead to a better understanding of time and reality presented in real conversations.

The practical value of the paper is that its description and conclusions about futurity can be readily integrated into the study of temporality and used in special linguistic courses in the University curriculum.

Structure of research: The course paper consists of introduction, two chapters, Conclusions to each of them, General conclusions, Résumé, Literature cited and the List of illustration materials.

Introduction provides brief information on the theoretical background, relevance and choice of the topic, indicates the main goal, theoretical and practical value of the research, as well as its primary tasks.

Chapter I "Theoretical basis for the study of the futurity and the linguistic means of its expression" discusses the fundamental notions in studying futurity and how it's linguistically expressed, encompassing aspects like discursive features, deictic markers, time as a linguistic category, futurity as a time concept, and linguistic tools for indicating futurity.

Chapter II "Means of expressing futurity in English, their characteristics" covers a comprehensive overview of the grammatical resources, including the role of modal words, expressions, tenses, mood, etc. available in English for expressing futurity, and their different nuances of meaning. It provides insights into how future actions are conveyed in discourse and into various characteristics associated with them.

General Conclusions summarize the findings of the course paper and present the most significant theoretical and practical results.

The main achievements of the paper were presented in the abstracts and in the reports at the International scientific and practical conferences "Ad orbem per linguas. До світу через мови" (May 18-19, 2023, KNLU; May 16-17, 2024, KNLU).

CHAPTER I. THEORETICAL BASIS FOR THE STUDY OF THE FUTURITY AND THE LINGUISTIC MEANS OF ITS EXPRESSION

1.1. Discursive features of a sentence

When we speak or write, we use utterances to create something meaningful that will carry a certain message or information. For this purpose, speakers construct different types of sentences, whether they are questions, statements, commands, or exclamations. All of them have to be used in specific situations and with a certain **intention**. And when creating sentences, it is important to consider the **discursive features** that contribute to effective communication.

Zelentsova (2018) argues that one of the key discursive features of a sentence is its **informative value**. The informative value of a sentence refers to the amount of new information it conveys to the listener or reader. In order to create sentences with high informative value, speakers must carefully select the words and phrases they use. They must also consider the **context** in which the sentence will be used and the audience to whom it is addressed.

One way to increase the informative value of a sentence is to remove redundant or irrelevant information. This can be done by identifying and eliminating **discourse units** (segments) that are less informative, predictable, or otherwise unnecessary (Molina, Torres-Moreno, SanJuan, da Cunha & Sierra Martínez, 2013, p. 394). For example, the following sentence could be made more informative by removing the redundant phrase "in order to", for example:

I visited my grandmother <u>in order to find out how she was doing</u>.

I visited my grandmother <u>to find</u> out how she was doing.

This segmentation breaks the sentence down into smaller, cohesive segments that carry distinct meaning or ideas. Accordingly, by carefully considering the informative value of sentences, speakers can create messages that are clear, concise, and effective.

1.2. Deictic markers indicating the situation of objective reality

Deixis is a linguistic phenomenon that involves the use of expressions whose interpretation is dependent on the context of the utterance. **Deictic markers** play a crucial role in indicating the situation of objective reality, specifically in relation to place, time, and person.

Person deixis involves encoding the role of participants in the speech event (Miftah, 2016, p. 28). This category is represented by pronouns such as first-person "*T*", second-person "*you*", and third person "*he/she/it*". For example, "*I shall speak to her at once*" (Jane Austen, 2007, p. 39) refers to the speaker, "*You can now have nothing more to say*" (Jane Austen, 2007, p. 39) refers to the addressee, and "*He had not said a word the whole time*" (Lee, 2017, p. 174) refers to someone other than the speaker or addressee.

Spatial (**place**) **deixis**, on the other hand, relates to the relationship between space and the location of participants in a discourse (Miftah, 2016, p. 29). It is expressed through words like "here", "there", "this", "that", and phrases like "at our place" or "out back". Additionally, McCaffery (1997) considers that spatial deixis involves deictic projection and psychological distance, where the speaker mentally or physically fixates on the location, demonstrated in phrases like "I'll be <u>right here</u>" (Shaw, 2010, p. 197) or "Don't you know you're not supposed to even touch the trees over there?" (Lee, 2017, p. 38). These expressions require contextual information about the place of the utterance to be understood.

Temporal deixis refers to the reference of time relative to a temporal reference point, usually the moment of the utterance (Miftah, 2016, p. 30). Examples of temporal deixis markers include words like "yesterday", "tomorrow", "today", "tonight", "next week", and "last week". These markers, often used in combination with person deixis, create a sense of distance between the present and the projected event. For instance, the utterance "I'll come to dinner tomorrow night" (Shaw, 2010, p. 115) suggests immediacy and urgency, while "...he'll be able to hunt again next year, ..." (Shaw, 2010, p. 178) hints at a more flexible timeframe. These expressions rely on the knowledge of the relevant utterance time for interpretation.

Therefore, deixis plays an essential role in language by allowing speakers to refer to the situational context of their utterances. Person deixis involves the encoding of participants' roles, spatial deixis relates to the relationship between space and discourse participants, and temporal deixis refers to the reference of time relative to the moment of the utterance.

1.3. Time as an objective and a linguistic category

The **temporal aspect** has always played a critical role for the English language. Early mentioned deixis of time suggests that the ability to express the future, past, and present through tenses and temporal markers grants us remarkable linguistic tools to reimagine, reinterpret, and even transcend the linear constraints of objective time.

Objectively, time is a fundamental detail of our existence, providing a framework for measuring and organizing the sequence of events. **Linguistically**, time is represented through various grammatical and lexical markers that allow us to express future events in language. Modal verbs like "will" and "shall", as well as temporal adverbs such as "yesterday" and "in the future", are utilized to indicate past and future time reference. These **linguistic markers** enable effective communication about past-future intentions and predictions.

According to Aliyeva (2022, p. 122), understanding the functional-semantic field of temporality in linguistics presents theoretical and methodological dilemmas. The study of linguistic temporality, as explored by Plehutsa (2020, p. 174), highlights the basic features involved in expressing time linguistically. By examining the relationship between objective time and its linguistic representation, we can gain insights into the ways in which language allows us to navigate and communicate about particular time events.

Consequently, time functions as both an objective reality and a linguistic category when expressing time events in the Modern English Language. Objective time provides a reference point for temporal relations, while linguistic markers enable us to convey present, past or future intentions and predictions.

1.4. Futurity as a type of time deixis in a sentence

It is possible to understand that in the context of a sentence, **futurity** can be viewed as a kind of a deictic marker of time. It is a temporal location that is distinct from the present and the past. Futurity can be expressed in a variety of ways, including the use of tenses, modal verbs, and temporal adverbs.

Tenses are the most common way to express futurity in English. The future tense is used to refer to events that will happen after the present moment (De Brabanter, Kissine, & Sharifzadeh, 2014, p. 23). For example, the sentence "...and you'<u>ll</u> <u>go</u> to Sunday school tomorrow" (Montgomery, 2021, p. 73) expresses futurity by using the future tense of the verb "to go".

Modal verbs can also be used to express futurity. Modal verbs express possibility, necessity, or permission. For example, the same sentence but with "may" "...and you <u>may go</u> to Sunday school tomorrow" expresses futurity by using the modal verb "may".

Temporal adverbs can also be used to express futurity. Temporal adverbs indicate the time when an event will occur. For example, the sentence "...and you'<u>ll</u> <u>go</u> to Sunday school <u>tomorrow</u>" expresses futurity by using the temporal adverb "tomorrow".

The specific way that futurity is expressed in a sentence can vary depending on the speaker's **intent**. For example, the sentence "...and you'll go to Sunday school tomorrow" expresses a more certain future event than the sentence "...and you may go to Sunday school tomorrow". In this way, futurity is a complex concept that can be expressed in a variety of ways in English. By understanding the different ways that futurity can be shown, we can better understand the meaning of sentences and the speaker's intent.

1.5. Linguistic means of denoting the futurity

Linguistic means of denoting future tense in the English language can be categorized into grammatical, lexical-grammatical, and lexical means. **Grammatical** means involve the use of constructions with "will" and the infinitive of the active or

passive voice, such as "will + Simple Infinitive", "will + Continuous Infinitive", "will + Perfect Infinitive", and "will + Perfect Continuous Infinitive" (Кулєзньова, 2010, с. 138). However, while the familiar "will/shall + do" constructions represent the traditional grammatical approach to future tense, the landscape of expressing futurity in English is far richer and more nuanced. Critics rightly point out the ambiguity of "will", its overlap with modal verbs, and the existence of alternative constructions like "be going to" and "be about to" (Fries, 1927, p. 87). These constructions provide a systematic approach to understanding the future tense for learners who prefer a structural and visual explanation of this topic.

Lexical means include verbs with a futuristic orientation, such as "intend", "hope", "decide", "want", "plan", etc. as well as **lexical and grammatical constructions** like "to be to + infinitive", "to be about to + infinitive", "to be due to + infinitive", "be on the point of + gerund" and others (Кулєзньова, 2010, с. 138). These means of expression infuse futurity with speaker intentionality and can be further divided into categories based on the speaker's intention, actions that do not depend on the speaker's will, and actions expressed through modal verbs.

Furthermore, lexical means for expressing time encompass words with **temporal semantics** including nouns: denoting periods of time like *second*, *minute*, and *night*; days of the week such as *Sunday* and *Wednesday*; months like *January* and *May*; seasons such as *summer* and *autumn*; and holidays like *Independence Day* (Бакуменко & Бондар, 2021, c. 105). Adjectives (*next*, *following*, etc.), adverbs (*tomorrow*, *soon*, etc.), and verbs/nouns with the "time" seme (*to remember*, *memory*) are also significant markers of futurity. Moreover, even prepositions can serve as indicators of futurity, notably "*in*", indicate months or years (e.g., *Miss Stacy is going to give us examinations in June*) (Montgomery, 2021, p. 235) or convey a sense of duration (e.g., ...*you'll see in a minute*) (Lee, 2017, p. 136).

For future actions that depend on the speaker's intention the construction "will + do" is used. When a decision about a future action is made before the moment of speech without a precise date, the construction "to be going to do something" is employed (Fries, 1927, p. 89). If the decision about a future action has a precisely

defined date in the near future, the construction "to be doing something" is used. On the other hand, when future actions do not depend on the speaker's will or desire and indicate an objective course of events, the Present Simple tense is used.

Additionally, the use of modal verbs in combination with Simple or Continuous Infinitives of **semantic verbs** allows for the expression of future actions in terms of possibility, probability, ability, necessity, or lack of necessity (Mikuláš, 2016, p. 187). For example, "My mother <u>can clean</u> it <u>tomorrow</u>" expresses the possibility of mother doing it, while "Anna must bring it in a few days" conveys necessity, and "Dan <u>should</u> <u>submit</u> it <u>a little later</u>" implies a recommendation or suggestion.

So, understanding the intricate interplay of grammatical structures, lexical choices, and speakers' intentionality enhances our knowledge of the nuanced manifestations of futurity within the Modern English language. Transcending the conventional "will/shall" paradigm empowers us to navigate the diverse linguistic framework of the future, choosing the most precise and efficient tools to convey our intended meaning.

Conclusions to Chapter I

The **discursive features** of a sentence play a crucial role in effective communication. The informative value of a sentence, achieved through careful word choice and consideration of context, allows speakers to convey their intended message clearly and concisely, ensuring effective **communication** with their audience. By eliminating redundant or irrelevant information, speakers can enhance the informative value of their sentences, creating messages that are impactful and easily understood.

Moreover, **deictic markers** in language are essential as well for indicating the situation of objective reality, particularly in terms of place, time, and person. **Person deixis** encodes the roles of participants in the speech event, **spatial deixis** relates to the relationship between space and discourse participants, and **temporal deixis** refers to the reference of time relative to the moment of the utterance. These markers provide important contextual information that helps in the interpretation and understanding of language.

In our research, we highlight the concept of **time** that serves as both an objective reality and a linguistic category in the English language. Objectively, time provides a framework for organizing and measuring the sequence of events. Linguistically, various grammatical and lexical markers are used to express past, present, and future time reference, enabling effective communication about temporal events. Understanding the relationship between objective time and its linguistic representation helps us navigate and communicate about time events in language.

Futurity in a sentence can be viewed as a kind of deictic marker of time, distinct from the present and the past. It can be expressed through various ways, including tenses, modal verbs, and temporal adverbs. The specific way futurity is denoted can vary depending on the speaker's intent, with different constructions conveying different levels of certainty or intentionality. Furthermore, the linguistic means of denoting futurity can be categorized into **grammatical**, **lexical** and **lexico-grammatical** means, each offering different nuances and options for expressing future actions. Understanding the diverse linguistic framework of futurity enhances our ability to convey precise and accurate meaning in English.

CHAPTER II. MEANS OF EXPRESSING FUTURITY IN ENGLISH, THEIR CHARACTERISTICS

2.1. Verbs and their role in modifying the futurity in English, their formal differences

While the concept of "future" might seem inherently linear and objective, its linguistic representation in English is quite peculiar. Verbs, as the generative nuclei of sentences, play a crucial role in modifying and shaping the connotations of futurity.

Beyond the traditional future tense, several verb categories significantly impact futurity. **Modal verbs** like "will", "may", and "must" express varying degrees of certainty, with "will" indicating a high degree of probability, "may" suggesting possibility, and "must" implying obligation or necessity in the future. Additionally, lexical items with the meaning of 'intention', such as **intentional verbs** like "intend", "plan", and "decide" introduce intentionality and premeditation into future actions, while verbs "hope" and "wish" convey less concrete desires or aspirations (Bybee & Pagliuca, 1987, p. 117). The choice of verb category, therefore, becomes critical in shaping the nature and certainty of the projected event.

Furthermore, modal verbs, as Larreya (2000, p. 118) highlights, add layers of nuance to futurity. "Will" typically expresses a neutral, predicted future, while "shall" can convey a sense of obligation, promise, or even threat, depending on the context (e. g. I shall never forgive Gilbert Blythe) (Montgomery, 2021, p. 105) — a steadfast decision, a solemn promise. The use of modals like "could" or "might" introduces a degree of uncertainty or possibility, suggesting a contingent or hypothetical future (e. g. Yes, that might be better, as you're as attractive as any of them, and Mr Bingley might like you best) (Jane, 2007, p. 2). These modal distinctions, intertwined with the inherent semantics of the verb itself, create a rich tapestry of future-oriented meaning in English.

2.1.1. Tense forms to indicate futurity. The expression of futurity in Modern English is not limited to dedicated future tenses. Instead, a complex set of verb forms,

with their distinct temporal implications, contribute to the construction of futureoriented meaning.

The present simple tense, often used for scheduled events or established routines, can introduce a neutral, factual future. A sentence like "The train <u>leaves</u> at 7:30 tomorrow morning" refers to future events as fixed and certain. Bybee and Pagliuca (1987, p. 112) argue that this grammaticalization of the present for future reference reflects a historical shift towards a more objective representation of the future.

The present continuous tense, conversely, creates a sense of ongoing process or planned action into the future. A sentence like "<u>I'm leaving</u> town this morning" (Shaw, 2010, p. 82) suggests a future event that is actively in the works, with a focus on the ongoing nature of the preparation. This further highlights the dynamic interplay between tense and the speaker's stance towards the future event (Toyota, 2015, p. 335).

The future simple tense, formed with "will" and the base verb, expresses a neutral, predicted future. A sentence like "...you will see them all well married quite soon" (Jane, 2007, p. 22) conveys a strong sense of certainty about the future event, without emphasizing intention or planning. This contrasts with the future continuous tense, formed with "will be" and the present participle, which focuses on the extended duration or ongoing nature of a future event. "After all, people will be seeing us together all the time" (Shaw, 2010, p. 283) suggests a future process that unfolds over a period of time.

In addition to these core tenses, **the future perfect forms** ("I will have finished the project by noon") and **the future perfect continuous** ("By the time she arrives at the party, we will have been waiting for two hours") express completed future actions or states, often emphasizing the prior completion of the event to another point in the future.

2.1.2. Sequence of tenses when conveying future actions from the perspective of the past. When narrating events from the past and projecting forward to future actions within that past timeframe, a specific sequence of tenses governs the

verb forms used (Бобир, 2010, c. 54). This phenomenon, known as "**Future-in-the-past**", utilizes distinct verb structures to accurately express the temporal relationships between these past and future events.

The primary tools for future-in-the-past are "would" and "was/were going to", often used interchangeably depending on subtle nuances. "Would" typically conveys a general intention or prediction ("...I would never be interested in clothes") (Lee, 2017, p. 143), while "was/were going to" emphasizes a more concrete plan or arrangement ("For a moment I thought he was going to hit me with one of his huge, club-like hands") (Shaw, 2010, p. 268). Moreover, the past progressive tense can also be utilized to convey this future-in-the-past perspective, emphasizing the continuing nature of preparations or arrangements for a future event at the past reference point (Cunha, 2023, p. 3). For example, "We were expecting her out for a visit, but not so soon" (Montgomery, 2021, p. 143) suggests an ongoing process in the past with a future outcome.

Additional complexity emerges when embedding direct or indirect speech within a past narrative context. When reporting someone's words from the past that referred to their own future, "would" typically remains unchanged even within past tense contexts: "He said he would expect me at ten-thirty and hung up" (Shaw, 2010, p. 140). However, for embedded hypothetical statements, additional verb tense adjustments might be required to maintain temporal consistency.

It's important to mention that sequence of tenses in these constructions extends beyond the main verb. Auxiliary verbs, modals, and other temporal expressions within the clause will also shift to past forms to maintain consistency with the past reference point (Brabanter, Kissine, & Sharifzadeh, 2014, p. 24). For example, instead of "I had told Evelyn on the phone that I will get to Sag Harbor tomorrow.", the future-in-the-past construction would be "I had told Evelyn on the phone that I would get to Sag Harbor the next day" (Shaw, 2010, p. 390). All these rules can help English learners to enrich their understanding of the intricate structures that govern tense sequence in English grammar.

2.1.3. The Subjunctive mood in expressing a future action. The Subjunctive mood also offers intriguing ways to talk about future actions. It is a grammatical category of the verb that plays a crucial role in expressing modality, encompassing notions of possibility, obligation, and wish, while conveying the speaker's emotional and evaluative stance towards an event (Chubaryan, & Karapetyan, 2009, p. 209). Building upon the understanding of the Subjunctive as a **modality marker**, we explore its application in expressing future wishes. The standard rule applies the past Subjunctive of "be" and verbs, effectively creating counterfactual scenarios in the future (e. g., "I wish my imagination was as good as yours") (Montgomery, 2021, p. 192). However, when the desired action truly lies in the future, the subjunctive of "will" ("would") is employed (e. g., "I wish Bob Ewell wouldn't chew tobacco") (Lee, 2017, p. 245).

The complexities arise when considering future subjunctive beyond these basic examples. The **subjunctives** of "shall" and "will" ("should" and "would" respectively) offer additional nuance, as seen in "It is important that you should believe me" or "I wish you would believe me" (Shaw, 2010, p. 204). The inclusion of future continuous ("I wish my favourite team would be playing tomorrow") and future perfect ("I wish I would have completed my term paper by Monday") further expands the expressive potential (Howard, 2012, p. 205). While some argue for the acceptability of the future perfect continuous ("I wish Anna would have been working on this for 8 hours by tomorrow evening"), the potential for logical incongruity necessitates careful consideration.

Subjunctives also play a vital role in **complex sentences**:

- **Subjunctive 1** (**Present/Future Unreal**): Used in present/future presuppositions with doubtful realizations, it employs forms identical to the past and future continuous tenses (Guan, 2012, p. 171), e.g., "...if I did fight him, I would be letting Atticus down" (Lee, 2017, p. 87).
- **Subjunctive 2** (**Past Unreal**): Employed in unreal conditions referring to the future or present, it takes forms identical to the past tenses (Guan, 2012, p. 172),

- e.g., "I wouldn't want to be picked if I were an apple blossom" (Montgomery, 2021, p. 55).
- **Subjunctive Problematic** (with *should* in British English and with a base form of the verb in American English): This form is used in subject and object clauses expressing necessity, suggestion, or desire (Guan, 2012, p. 172), e. g., "*she insisted that* <u>I (should) get out</u> before the help started stirring about" (see Shaw, 2010, p.190).

Consequently, the Subjunctive mood, with its diverse tense-aspect combinations and uses in complex sentences, offers a rich approach to expressing futurity in English, complementing the standard future tense constructions. Its mastery adds depth and flexibility to language, allowing for precise expression of wishes, hypothetical situations, and various modalities related to the future.

2.2. Modal elements in denoting the futurity in English

Studying **grammatical units** alongside future markers in the context of **communicative-based learning** enhances English learners' ability to express future actions and events effectively. This integrated approach allows learners to grasp the modal elements used to denote futurity in English, enabling them to convey intentions and plans with precision in real communicative situations (Berezenko, Cherkhava, & Musiienko, 2022, p. 94). By linking the study of grammatical competence with future markers and modal elements, learners can develop a comprehensive understanding of expressing future events in English communication.

2.2.1. Modal words and expressions and their significance in denoting the futurity in English. At the lexical level, the meaning of modality is expressed by modal words and expressions which include "maybe, perhaps, for sure, be about to" and others. They reveal the author's confidence or doubts and their subjective assessment of what is being reported. Syntactically, most of them function as a parenthesis that usually refers to the entire sentence (Різванли, 2021, с. 222). These elements, often categorized as modal verbs, modal adjectives, and modal adverbs, add depth and precision to our communication of future events.

Degrees of Certainty: **Modal adjectives** ("possible", "probable", "certain") and modal words ("possibly", "definitely", "surely") modulate the speaker's confidence in a future event. For example, "It is <u>probable</u> that he will spend very little of his time there in future" (Jane, 2007, p. 56) indicates a tentative outlook, while "...I shall <u>certainly</u> tell her how modest, economical and practical you are" (Jane, 2007, p. 37) conveys strong conviction.

Degrees of Obligation: Modal adjectives like "necessary", "compulsory", and "obligatory", and **modal words** (in foreign Grammars treated as **adverbs**) like "necessarily", "perhaps", and "maybe", express the speaker's stance on futurity and highlight varying degrees of future action required or expected (Berezenko, 2019, p. 85). For example, "It's necessary to submit my home assignment by Monday" conveys a firm obligation, while "Perhaps I'll call on Sunday" (Shaw, 2010, p. 83) suggests a more flexible approach.

Other Modal Expressions: Spoken English frequently employs informal expressions like "for certain", "for sure", and "for definite" to emphasize future events. "The concert is for sure happening next week" showcases strong certainty, while "We'll meet at the cafe tomorrow, for definite" reinforces the commitment.

Modality with "be": Apart from modal words, several expressions with "be", in particular "be to", "be able to", "be bound to" and "be about to" directly express upcoming events with varying degrees of immediacy and planning (Kakzhanova, 2013, p. 2532). "One way or another in the next year or two you're bound to get married" (Shaw, 2010, p. 83) implies a strong assertion regarding an inevitable occurrence in the future, while "They are about to leave" signifies an imminent event. Therefore, modal words and expressions significantly enrich the ways we express futurity in Modern English. By conveying diverse shades of certainty, obligation, and intention, these versatile tools provide flexibility and precision in communicating what lies ahead.

2.2.2. Modal verbs for expressing the future. As it was mentioned previously, there are two most used modal verbs in English - will and shall. These modal verbs

are employed with different nuances to express future events. Originally, "will" connoted the desire of the subject, while "shall" indicated an act that was due in accordance with the will of someone other than the subject of the verb. Both verbs inherently suggested the idea of **futurity**. The use of "shall" to indicate the will of the speaker was initially limited to the second and third persons and could not be used in the first person, as Germanic "shall" never indicated the will of the subject (Curme, 1913, p. 517). This distinction underscores the original force and usage of "will" and "shall" in denoting future actions, illustrating the historical and cultural dimensions that have shaped their functions in expressing futurity within the English language.

Furthermore, modal verbs such as "will" (will not), "may" (may not), "might" (might not), "have to" (do not have to), "must" (must not), "should" (should not), "ought to" (ought not to), and "could" (could not) play central roles in conveying various shades of futurity in English. "Will" is utilized to indicate a high degree of certainty regarding future events, while "may" and "might" are employed to express possibilities for future occurrences, with may hinting at greater likelihood (Brabanter, Kissine, & Sharifzadeh, 2014, p. 62): "That may make me feel badly tomorrow, Josie" (Montgomery, 2021, p. 263) versus "I might be coming back to Washington in a few days" (Shaw, 2010, p. 76). Additionally, "must", "have to" and "ought to" emphasize strong obligation and convey the necessity of an action in the near future, while "should" and "could" suggest expectation or recommendation (Eide, 2019, p. 123): "This ought to be a weekend to remember" (Shaw, 2010, p. 19) or "...Mr. Barry should take the girls in on the following Tuesday" (Montgomery, 2021, p. 213).

Understanding the nuanced usage of these modal verbs in expressing futurity enhances the precision and clarity of **communication** regarding future events within the English language. These modal verbs reflect the intricate interplay between linguistic structures and semantic meanings.

2.3. Adverbs of time and their use to represent future actions in English

Adverbs of time play a crucial role in representing future actions in the Modern English Language. It is important to note that **adverbs** and modal words serve distinct

grammatical functions, with adverbs being dependent on the verb and providing properties of an action, while modal words modify the entire sentence and convey the speaker's attitude towards the situation (Berezenko, 2019, p. 85). In the context of expressing futurity, adverbs such as "then", "soon", "tomorrow", "next week/morning/day", "later", "tonight", and others are commonly employed to denote the timing and sequence of future events.

These words establish the **temporal framework** for upcoming actions, ranging from immediate ("soon") to distant ("next year"). Consider how the adverb "soon" in "You'<u>ll</u> hear s ... <u>soon</u> enough" (Shaw, 2010, p. 20) suggests a sense of immediacy, while "tomorrow" in "<u>I'm going</u> to London <u>tomorrow</u>" (Jane, 2007, p. 85) points to a specific timeframe (Karlina, Hakim, & Chiani, 2022, p. 239). Similarly, "later today" implies a timeframe within the current day, while "next week" expands the timeframe further. These adverbs provide a flexible way to convey not just the certainty of a future event, but also its temporal location within the speaker's conception of the future.

Moreover, adverbs of time can be combined with **modal verbs** to further enrich the expression of futurity. For instance, "...I <u>might later regret</u>" (Shaw, 2010, p. 286) combines the possibility expressed by "might" with the specific timeframe of "later", adding a layer of detail to the future plan (Mehdi, & Jaradat, 2021, p. 95). These adverbs not only contribute to temporally locating future actions but also facilitate the precise articulation of the temporal aspects of events, thereby enriching the linguistic resources for expressing futurity in the English language.

Conclusions to Chapter II

The concept of "future" in English is far more subtle than a simple tense marker. Mastering **grammatical units** in conjunction with the study of future markers, including modal elements in denoting futurity in English, is essential for equipping students of English with the linguistic competence to effectively express future actions and events in real communicative settings.

Verbs play a pivotal role in shaping its meaning, not only through dedicated future tenses like "will" or "shall", but also through verb categories like **modals** and

intentional verbs. Modals like "may" and "must" convey degrees of certainty and obligation, while verbs like "intend" and "hope" introduce intentionality and desire. Even tense forms like present simple and continuous contribute, expressing scheduled events, ongoing processes, and predicted outcomes. This intricate interplay of verbs and their forms allows speakers to navigate the complexities of the future with precise and subtle meaning.

It is necessary to remember that when describing the past and projecting into the future within that past timeframe, specific **sequence of tenses** is crucial for accurate expression. **"Future-in-the-past" constructions** use "would" for general intentions and "was/were going to" for concrete plans, with the past progressive emphasizing ongoing preparations. Incorporating speech within this context requires maintaining temporal consistency, even with "would" in **reported future actions**.

The Subjunctive mood offers another level of detail for expressing future actions. It conveys wishes, counterfactuals, and various modalities through diverse tense-aspect combinations and functions in complex sentences. Mastering these tools allows for precise communication of our thoughts and emotions regarding what lies ahead, both factual and desired.

Modal words and **expressions**, including modal verbs, modal adjectives, and modal adverbs, play a significant role in denoting futurity in English. They provide insight into the speaker's confidence, doubts, obligations, and intentions regarding future events. Modal adjectives and adverbs modulate degrees of certainty and obligation, while expressions with "be" convey immediacy and planning. **Modal verbs** such as "will", "might", "have to", "should", "ought to", "could", etc. offer a range of possibilities for expressing futurity, including certainty, possibility, obligation, and recommendation.

Lastly, **adverbs of time** like "soon", "tomorrow", and "next week" add precise temporal context to future actions, ranging from immediate to distant. They can be used alone or combined with modal verbs like "might" to further improve the expression of futurity, adding detail to the speaker's plans and conceptions of the future.

GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

In the field of linguistics, the ways of expressing time in the English language has been a topic of great interest for a long time. In this paper by analyzing the grammatical structures, verb forms, and contextual cues used to express futurity, we have aimed to uncover the intricacies of how the English language conveys future events and actions. As a result, there can be drawn the following conclusions:

- 1) The **discursive features** of a sentence play a crucial role in effective communication because they highlight the significance of the **informative value** of a sentence, emphasizing the need for speakers to carefully select words and phrases to convey new information to the audience. Removing redundant or irrelevant information can enhance the informative value, contributing to clear and meaningful communication. Moreover, **deictic markers**, including those related to person, place, and time, are essential for situating utterances within specific contexts. **Person deixis** involves encoding the roles of participants, while **spatial** and **temporal deixis** provide crucial contextual information about the location and time of the utterance, enabling accurate interpretation.
- 2) **Time** operates as both an objective reality and a linguistic construct, offering a framework for organizing events and expressing past and future intentions through grammatical and lexical markers. **Futurity**, as a type of time space in a sentence, reflects a distinct temporal location from the present and the past. English employs various linguistic means, including grammatical, lexical-grammatical, and lexical means, to denote futurity, encompassing constructions with modal verbs, temporal adverbs, and verbs with futuristic orientation.
- 3) Studying **grammatical units** in relation to the means of expressing futurity in Modern English is crucial for enhancing learners' communicative abilities. At this point, we can summarize that the communicative approach prioritizes interaction and language use for communication, underscoring the importance of understanding grammatical structures in conveying future actions and events.

The significance of **modal words**, expressions, and verbs in denoting futurity in the English language underscores the rich and diverse linguistic resources available for articulating various shades of certainty, obligation, and intention regarding future events. **Modal verbs** such as "will", "may", "must" and others convey different degrees of certainty, while lexical verbs like "intend", "plan", etc. introduce intentionality into future actions. The choice of verb category crucially shapes the nature and certainty of the projected event, adding layers of nuance to futurity. **Modal adjectives** ("possible", "necessary", etc.) and **adverbs** ("surely", "maybe", etc.), along with informal expressions and modal verbs like "will", "shall", "may", "might", "have to", "must", "should", "could" and "ought to" collectively contribute to conveying the speaker's confidence or doubts, subjective assessments, and expectations pertaining to future actions.

Additionally, **modal expressions** with "be", such as "be to", "be able to", "be bound to", and "be about to", directly convey upcoming events with varying degrees of immediacy and planning, further enriching the linguistic resources for expressing futurity in Modern English. These versatile linguistic tools not only add depth and precision to the communication of futurity but also reflect the historical, cultural, and syntactic dimensions that have shaped the usage and nuances of modal expressions and verbs in English. Understanding the complex usage of these modal elements enriches the expression of futurity, enhancing the clarity and accuracy of communication regarding future events within the English language.

- 4) Furthermore, a complex set of **tense forms**, including the present simple, present continuous, future simple, future continuous, future perfect, and future perfect continuous, contribute to the construction of future-oriented meaning, reflecting varying degrees of certainty, intention, and ongoing processes in the expression of futurity. Other than that, **the sequence of tenses** when conveying future actions from the perspective of the past, known as "Future-in-the-past", and the application of the Subjunctive mood in expressing future actions provide English learners with a deeper understanding of the intricate English structures governed by the use of tense sequences and modal expressions.
- 5) Similarly important in expressing the future tense in English are **the adverbs of time**. These adverbs, such as "then", "soon", "tomorrow", "next week/morning/day",

"later", and "tonight" provide not only the temporal location of future events but also convey the immediacy or distance of the event. When combined with modal verbs, adverbs of time further enhance the precision and clarity of expressing future plans in the Modern English language.

RÉSUMÉ

Курсова робота на тему "Means of expressing futurity in the Modern English Language" присвячена розгляду та аналізу способів вираження майбутності часу в сучасній англійській мові. Дослідження складається зі вступу, двох розділів, висновків до кожного з них, загальних висновків, резюме, списку використаної літератури та списку ілюстративних джерел.

У першому розділі "Theoretical basis for the study of the futurity and the linguistic means of its expression" («Теоретичні засади дослідження майбутності та мовних засобів її вираження») розглядаються фундаментальні поняття у вивченні майбутності та способів її мовного вираження, включаючи такі аспекти, як дискурсивні особливості, дейктичні маркери, час як лінгвістична категорія, майбутність як часовий концепт та мовні засоби для позначення майбутності.

Другий розділ "Means of expressing futurity in English, their characteristics" («Засоби вираження майбутності в англійській мові, їх характеристика») надає комплексний огляд граматичних засобів, включаючи роль модальних слів, виразів, часів, способів дієслова тощо, доступних в англійській мові для вираження майбутності, а також різні відтінки їхнього значення. У ньому дається уявлення про те, як англійська мова лінгвістично передає майбутні дії та різні характеристики, пов'язані з ними.

Ключові слова: дейктичні маркери, час, темпоральність, майбутність, модальні дієслова, інтенціональні дієслова, модальні слова, модальні вирази, спосіб дієслова.

LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Aliyeva, G. B. (2022). Theoretical and methodological dilema of the functional-semantic field of temporality in linguistics. *Humanities Science Current Issues*, *1*(55), 120–124. https://doi.org/10.24919/2308-4863/55-1-19.
- 2. Berezenko, V. (2019). Developing the pragmatic competence of foreign learners: guidelines to using constatives in modern English discourse. *Advanced Education*, 6(13), 81–88. https://doi.org/10.20535/2410-8286.156658.
- 3. Berezenko, V., Cherkhava, O., & Musiienko, Y. (2022). Communicative language teaching approach in promoting the linguistic competence of EFL learners. *Advanced Education*, 9(20), 88–96. https://doi.org/10.20535/2410-8286.224016.
- 4. Brabanter, P. D., Kissine, M., & Sharifzadeh, S. (2014). Future tense vs. future time: An introduction. *Future times, future tenses* (1–25). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199679157.003.0001.
- 5. Brabanter, P. D., Kissine, M., & Sharifzadeh, S. (2014). The interpretation of indefinites in future tense sentences: A novel argument for the modality of will? Y Future times, future tenses (c. 44–71). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199679157.003.0003.
- 6. Bybee, J. L., & Pagliuca, W. (1987). The evolution of future meaning. *Papers from the 7th international conference on historical linguistics* (pp. 109-122). John Benjamins Publishing Company. https://doi.org/10.1075/cilt.48.09byb.
- 7. Chubaryan, A., & Karapetyan, R. (2009). The Subjunctive mood: A linguo-cultural approach. *Armenian Folia Anglistika*, 5(1-2 (6)), 208–213. https://doi.org/10.46991/afa/2009.5.1-2.208.
- 8. Cunha, L. F. (2023). Towards a unified analysis of past and future tenses. *Isogloss. Open Journal of Romance Linguistics*, 9(1), 1–38. https://doi.org/10.5565/rev/isogloss.308.
- 9. Curme, G. O. (1913). Has English a Future Tense? *The Journal of English and Germanic Philology*, *12*(4), 515–539. http://www.jstor.org/stable/27700538.

- 10.De Brabanter, P., Kissine, M., & Sharifzadeh, S. (Eds.). (2014). Future times, future tenses (No. 2). *Oxford Studies of Time in Lang*. <a href="https://books.google.com.ua/books?hl=uk&lr=&id=tOTRAwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq=Futurity+as+a+type+of+time+space+in+a+sentence&ots=sak7d71OrT&sig=PqrRP0gehWcLuCQl2HgajHX3ZHk&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=Futurity%20as%20a%20type%20of%20time%20space%20in%20a%20sentence&f=false.
- 11. Eide, K. M. . (2019). Modals and Tense. *Proceedings of Sinn Und Bedeutung*, 7, 120–135. https://doi.org/10.18148/sub/2003.v7i0.796.
- 12. Fries, C. C. (1927). The Expression of the Future. *Language*, *3*(2), 87–95. https://doi.org/10.2307/408960.
- 13. Guan, X. (2012). A study on the formalization of English Subjunctive mood. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.4304/tpls.2.1.170-173.
- 14. Howard, M. (2012). "From tense and aspect to modality: The acquisition of future, conditional and subjunctive morphology in L2 French. A preliminary study". *Tense, aspect and mood in first and second language acquisition*. Leiden, The Netherlands: Brill, 201–223. https://doi.org/10.1163/9789401207188_011.
- 15. Kakzhanova, F. A. (2013). What modals are: Modal verbs, modal words, and auxiliary modals. *European Researcher*, 61(10-2), 2530–2535. https://doi.org/10.13187/er.2013.61.2530.
- 16. Karlina, Y., Hakim, F., & Chiani, S. H. (2022). The Use of Adverbials of Time in Bimanese Language: A Case Study in Bajo Village. *Jurnal Pendidikan Dan Pembelajaran Indonesia* (*JPPI*), 2(2), 233–242. https://doi.org/10.53299/jppi.v2i2.248.
- 17. Larreya, P. (2000). Modal verbs and the expression of futurity in English, French and Italian. *Modal Verbs in Germanic and Romance Languages*, *14*, 115–129. https://doi.org/10.1075/bjl.14.07lar.

- 18. McCaffery, S. J. 1. (1997). Deictic use [Dissertation, The University of Arizona]. http://hdl.handle.net/10150/289633.
- 19. Mehdi, M.F., & Jaradat, M. (2021). Adverbs of Time in Arabic and English: Comparative Study. *International Journal of Linguistics*, 13, 85-97. 10.5296/ijl.v13i1.18254.
- 20. Miftah, M. Z. (2016). Analysis of deixis in the article selected from the Jakarta Post. *Proceedings of International Conference: Role of International Languages Toward Global Education System*, 25 June 2016, IAIN Palangka Raya, Central Kalimantan, Indonesia, (pp. 25-37). https://www.researchgate.net/publication/311569603_Analysis_of_deixis_in_t he_article_selected_from_the_Jakarta_post.
- 21. Mikuláš, M. (2016). Functions of Expressions of Futurality in Professional Economic Texts. *Prague Journal of English Studies*, *5*(1), 185–207. https://doi.org/10.1515/pjes-2016-0010.
- 22. Molina, A., Torres-Moreno, J.-M., SanJuan, E., da Cunha, I., & Sierra Martínez, G. E. (2013). Discursive sentence compression. *Computational linguistics and intelligent text processing* (pp. 394–407). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-37256-8_33.
- 23. Plehutsa, A. A. (2020). Basic features of linguistic temporality. *Transcarpathian Philological Studies*, 1(14), 173–176. https://doi.org/10.32782/tps2663-4880/2020.14-1.31.
- 24. Toyota, J. (2015). Intention in futurity: A historical observation of the future tense in English. *Анали Филолошког факултета*, 27(2), 329–342. https://doi.org/10.18485/analiff.2015.27.2.17.
- 25. Zelentsova, M. G. (2018). Discursive-Cognitive features of the English-speaking economic discourse. WUT 2018 IX international conference "word, utterance, text: Cognitive, pragmatic and cultural aspects". Cognitive-Cres. https://doi.org/10.15405/epsbs.2018.04.02.111.
- 26. Бакуменко, О. О., & Бондар, А. Ю. (2021). Засоби вираження категорії часу в англійській мові. *Philological sciences and translation studies:*

- European potential. Baltija Publishing. https://doi.org/10.30525/978-9934-26-110-7-27.
- 27. Бобир, Ю. (2010). До проблеми навчання послідовності часів в англійській мові. *Вісник студентського наукового товариства*, 6(I), 54-56. http://lib.ndu.edu.ua:8080/jspui/bitstream/123456789/573/1/251_Visnik_naykovogo_tovaristva.pdf#page=54.
- 28. Кулєзньова, С. С. (2010). Майбутній граматичний час чи майбутні дії засобами мови? Сучасні підходи до інтенсифікації навчання професійно-орієнтованої англійської мови у вищій школі, 135-140.
- 29. Різванли, Н. (2021). Модальність як семантична категорія у англомовному науковому дискурсі. *Грааль науки*, 221–224. https://doi.org/10.36074/grail-of-science.24.09.2021.42.

LIST OF ILLUSTRATION MATERIALS

- 1. Jane, A. (2007). Oxford Bookworms Library: Pride and Prejudice: Level 6: 2,500 Word Vocabulary. Oxford University Press.
- 2. Lee, Harper. (2017). To Kill a Mockingbird.
- 3. Montgomery, L. M. (2021). Anne of Green Gables. Chartwell Classics.
- 4. Shaw, I. (2010). Nightwork (Денисова, С. В. Ред.). КАРО.